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PREFATORY NOTE

HE committee appointed to arrange for the celebration
of the Jubilee of St. James' Square Congregation, felt
that one of their first duties was to provide for the

publication of a memorial volume that would give in concise
form the history of the congregation, and such other inform-
ation as would be of value or interest in years to come. At
the request of the committee, the Honorable Sir Thomas
Taylor, son of the first minister and one intimately connected
with the earlier life of the congregation, undertook the
preparation of this historical sketch. He has given much
time and care to this labor of love, and the committee
express their deep obligation for the service so willingly
rendered.

As it is thought desirable to have the volume ready for
distribution at the time of the Jubilee services, no account of
those services can be incorporated, but a brief statement is
here given of the proposed celebration :—

On Sabbath morning, May 24th, the Rev. Principal Caven,
D.D. will preach, making special reference to the past history
of the congregation; thereafter the sacrament of the Lord’s
Supper will be dispensed. Former members of the congre-
gation will be specially invited to this Communion service.
In the evening the pastor will preach a special sermon to
the young in whom lies the hope of the congregation for the
future.

On  Sabbath, May 31st, the services morning and
evening will be conducted by the Rev. J. Munro Gibson,
D.D., L.L.D., of St. John’s Wood, London, Dr. Gibson when
astudent at Toronto University united with the congregation
under the ministry of Dr. Taylor.

There will be a service in the afternoon of this day at
3 o'clock, when addresses will be given by the pastors of the




two daughter congregations—Rev. Dr. Gilray of College
St. church, and Rev. J. McP, Scott, B.A., of St. John's church,
and by Rev. Harold M. Clark, B.A., who goes as a missionary
to Honan, supported by two members of this congregation.

On Monday evening, June Ist., there will be a social
gathering of the congregation, to which the Presbytery of
Foronto and all former members of the congregation will be
invited From six to eight o'clock refreshments will be
served, and fullest opportunity given for friendly intercourse.
['hereafter a public service will be held in the church,
when short addresses will be given by the Honorable the
Lientenant-Governor of Ontario, the Mayor of Toronto, Rev.
Dr. J. Munro Gibson, Sir Thomas Taylor, a representative of
Toronto Presbytery and Mr. Henry Darling representing the
former members of the congregation.

On Sabbath, June Tth, Dr. Gibson will again conduct the

services, morning and evening,







ST. JAMES SQUARE

PRESBYTERIAN CONGREGATION

HISTORICAL SKETCH, 1853-1903

Fue HoNotranrte St Toomas Warpraw TavLor

HE SYNOD of the United Secession Church in Scot
land, at its meeting in 1832, determined to begin a

mission in Canada, and three ministers of the Church

offering themselves for the work were accepted, and sailed
for Montreal in July of that vear.

The Rev. William Proudfoot, who had been a student
under Dr. Lawson, of Selkirk, and ordained minister of Pit
rodie in Perthshire, Scotland, in 1813, went as far west as
London and settled there. When a Theological Institute in
connection with the Canadian Church was established in 1844,
he was appointed professor, and, retaining the pastoral charge
of his congregation, besides acting as clerk of the Synod, and
clerk of Presbytery, discharged his professorial duties, teach
ing not only theol

but also classics and philosophy ;
labouring as an efficient teacher, a faithful pastor and a
zealous missionary, until his death in 1851, The Rev. Thomas
Christie, who had studied under Professor Paxton, and had
been ordained in 1817 over a congregation at Holme, in one
of the Orkney Islands, took up work near the head of Lake
Ontario, in the townships of West Flamboro, Beverley, and
Dumfries, continuing in the active discharge of his duties at

Flamboro® until September, 1870, when he died. Rev.

He was present at, and took part in, the induction of the first minister of

the cong




William Robertson was, for two years before coming to
Canada, minister of a congregation in Cupar, Fifeshire, and
after landing at Montreal, preached there for a few Sabbaths,
and had organized a congregation, when he fell a victim to
cholera then raging in the city with great severity.

These brethren were followed in 1833 by three others;
Rev, William (afterwards Dr.) Taylor, for forty-three years
minister of what is now Erskine church, Montreal, active in
every good work, religous and social: Rev. George Murray
who settled in Blenheim, labouring in that district until his
resignation in 1857: and Rev. Robert H. Thornton* who
became minister of a congregation in the township of Whitby,
of which he was pastor, doing faithful and fruitful work, for
over forty years.

In these early days, Mr. Thornton’s ministrations extended
northward as fur as there were then settlers, and for H0 miles
along the shores of Lake Ontario; Toronto thus falling within
s sphere of labour, and there in 1837 he organized a con-
ition. It was declared to be, “a congregation under the
Missionary Presbytery connected with the United Secession
Church in Scotland,” and had at first ouly ten members. Two
elders, John Ross and John Campbell, were ordained on 18th
March, 1838; in April, managers were chosen: and on the
21st ot October, leave having been obtained from the Pres-
bytery, a call was given to Rev. George Lawrence,+ the
stipend offered being $200:% this call he declined.

On 18th May, 1839, the Rev. John Jennings was unanim-
ously called, and on 9th June his induction took place. He was
a native of Scotland, educated at the University of Saint

*In 1859 the degree of D.D. was conferred upon him by the College oi
Princeton.

t He was afterwards minister of Orono, in the township of Clarke, and on
his resignation came to Toronto, connecting himself, 18th April, 1870, with the
congregation, of which he continued a member until his death on 28th July, 1887,

4 Sums of money in the earlier days stated in pounds, shillings, and pence,
have been given throughout in dollars and cents, as more intelligible to the
present gene ation,
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Andrews, and having chosen Canada as his field of lahour,
was ordained by the Presbytery of Cupar, 12th July, 1835,
leaving Scotland soon after.  Mr. (afterwards Dr.) Jennings
may be regarded as one of the pioneers in Christian work in
Ontario; during his first yvear in the country he travelled
over 3,000 miles in the faithful discharge of duty, and was
one of the first ministers to go north of Lake Simcoe, e was
not only pastor of a large and influential congregation, but
held many important positions, especially in conuection with
education ; such as Grammar School trustee, menr ber of the
Council of Public Instruction, and member of the University
Senate, Iis ministry had lasted thirty-five years, when on
10th of March, 1874, failing health compelled him to resign
his charge; he died 24th February, 1876,

The congregation at first met for public worship in a hall
in Turton’s Buildings:* but in May, 1838, it was resolved
that a more commodious place of meeting should be obtained
and the managers were empowered to rent the brick chapel
in March Street* belonging to the Baptists. This was probably
used as the place of worship until May, 1840, when the’
Episcopal Methodist church in Hospital Street! was rented
at $80 a year. In October, 1841, this building was bought for
$400, and the ground on which it stood for $800. The con-
gregation having largely increased in numbers, it was, in
April, 1847, determined to sell the property it had occupied
for seven years, and get plans for a new church to contain
800 sittings, and to cost not more than $5,800. Next year a
commodious church was erected at the corner of Bay and
Richmond Streets, and on 31st December, 1848, opened for
public worship.  The United Presbyterian Church having
been formed in Scotland in 1847, by the union of the Seces-
sion and Relief Churches, this was always known as « Bay

* These buildings were on the north side of King Street West, near Bay

Street, and were afterwards known as Lamb’s Hotel,

t Now Lombard Street,

3 Now Richmond Street West,




Street United Presbyterian church,” and continued to be used
until 1878, when the congregation, having taken the name of
«Erskine church,” removed to the building then erected,
and which it now occupies, in Caer Howell Street.*  Central
church had, in 1875, been formed by members removing
from Bay Street congregation.

On the death of Rev. Mr. Proudfoot, the Synod of the
United Presbyterian Church in Canada applied to the Mission
Committee of the Church in Scotland, to recommend ¢“a
person or persons in their view qualified to fill the office of
professor,” a request which led to the recommendation of
the Rev. Dr. John Taylor. At the meeting of the Canadian
Synod in April, 1852, he was unanimously invited toaccept the
office, which he did, coming to Toronto in June of that year.
During the negotiations which led to his invitation, questions
arose as to where the new professor should reside, and as to
his being also a pastor of a congregation. The Mission
Committee recommended, «that in present circumstances
of the Church in Canada he should have a pastoral charge,”
and that ¢ he be directed to go to Toronto and reside there,
till he obtains a charge in a place of which he shall approve,
and which he shall regard so central as to be fitted for
answering the ends of his appointment.”

This recommendation probably strengthened the opinion
which some had begun to entertain, that the time had come
when there was room for another congregation in the city.
At all events, on 25th January, 1853, four members of
Bay Street congregation, John Plenderleith, Robert Bell,
Alexander Gemmell and John Cameron, met *“to consider the
propriety of taking steps necessary to the formation of a
second congregation in this city under the Toronto Presbytery
of the United Presbyterian Church,” and the conclusion they
came to was “that immediate steps be taken for the for-
mation of said congregation.” A petition to the Presbytery

*To Mr, John Young of the Bible and Tract Society, for many years and
still an honoured elder in Erskine church, thanks are due for information as

to its early history,
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was accordingly prepared, and signed by 20 persons at an
adjourned meeting to which those believed to be friendly to
the movement had been invited. This was presented at a
meeting of Presbytery held on 8th February, when Rev. Mr.
Pringle (Brampton), was appointed to meet the petitioners,
preach, make necessary inquiries, and report at a meeting
of Presbytery in May. In pursuance of this appointment, he
met the petitioners on 8th March in the Second Congrega-
tional church,* when a supplementary petition with seven-
teen additional names was handed in.

The Presbytery met 3rd May, when Mr. Pringle gave his
report, commissioners on behalf of the petitioners were heard,
also the session of Bay Street congregation, and next day
the application was considered and discussed by members of
the court. Then Rev. Mr. Fraser (Bondhead) moved,
seconded by Rev. Mr. Dick (Richmond Hill), “ That consider-
ing the evident absence of any necessity arising from the
present condition and numbers of the Presbyterian popu-
lation of this city, for the erection of another Presbyterian
church ; considering that this applies especially to that part
of the Presbyterian population professing to be attached to
the principles of the United Presbyterian Chuich ; consider-
ing that the petitioners assert no charge of inefficiency or
unfaithfulness against the pastor of the present United
Presbyterian church in the city, and that the only additional
reason assigned for the new erection (which did not appear
in the petition, but which is contained in the report of the
Presbytery’s deputy) is a vague assertion of the want of
edification, the Presbytery are of opinion that it would not be
for the real benefit of the parties making the application,
and that it would not tend to the advancement of the great
interests of the Church, that the petition should be granted—

* This church was on the south side of Richmond Street West, between
Yonge and Bay Streets; and the kindness of Rev, Mr. Geikie the pastor, and
of the deacons, in granting the use of it on this oceasion, for a meeting when
the first members were enrolled, for that, at which the first minister was called,
and again for his indu tion, should be gratefully acknowledged,
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and therefore that the prayer of the petition for the erection
of a second United Presbyterian congregation in Torcnto be
not granted.” It was moved in amendment by Rev. Mr,
Coutts (Chinguaco , seconded by Rev. Thomas Dickson
Caledon), ““That the case be referred to the Synod for con

sideration and decision.” The roll being called and the votes
marked, when six voted for the motion and four for the
amendment, the Preshytery resolved in terms of the motion,
and the petitioners protested and appealed to the Synod.

The appeal came before the Synod on 22nd June, when
the petitioners, the session of Bay Street congregation and
the representatives of the Presbytery, were heard at great
length, and the whole case was fully considered by the mem-
bers of Synod, after which it was moved by Rev. Mr. Hen-
derson (St. Andrew’s), seconded by Rev. Mr. Hogg (Hamilton):
“That the Synod do not think that there is, at present, a call
in Providence to attempt the formation of a new congrega-
tion in this ity in connection with the United Presbyterian
Church; therefore dismiss the protest and appeal, and affirm
the decision of the Presbytery.” Rev. Mr. Kennedy (Dun-
barton) moved in amendment, seconded by Mr. Daniel
McNaughton, elder (Brantford): «Sustain the protest and ap-
peal, set aside the decision of the Presbytery, and grant the
prayer of the petition.” On the vote being taken it stood
six for the motion and seventeen for the amendment, the
Synod deciding and resolving in terms thereof—and so, as ex-
pressed in an entry in the congregational minute-book, «Thus
successfully terminated an eventful struggle for the exten-
sion of the United Presbyterian Church in Toronto.”

The petitioners seem to have lost no time in getting the
decision of the Synod in their favour carried into eftect, as
they procured a meeting o’ Presbytery to be held the next
day, 23rd June, when they renewed their application for
organization, requesting at the same time immediate supply

of sermon, and that Dr. Taylor should be the supply. There-
upon according to the entry in the Presbytery records, «The
Presbytery agreed to declare those of the petitioners who are




in full communion with the United Presbyterian Church, &
second congregation in the city of Toronto, in connection
with and under the inspection of this Presbytery : appointed
Dr. Taylor and Mr, Dick to receive their certificates, In
respect to the second part of their petition, the Presbytery
agreed to grant them supply of sermon, and that in accor
dance with their request, agreed also, in regard to those of
the petitioners who are not members of the United Preshy
terian Church, that the Rev. Dr. Taylor and the Rev. Mr.
Dick, with Mr. Pollock, elder, be a committee to meet with
them and take such steps as are prescribed by the rales of
the Chiurch in such cases, with a view to their being admit-
ted to the membership of said congregation.” In pursuance
of this appointment, Dr. Taylor and Mr. Dick met with the
petitioners on 6th July, 1853, when thirteen persons handed
in certificates, a communion roll was made out and their
names placed on it.  Those original members of the congre-
gation were: John Plenderleith, Mary Plenderleith, John
Cameron, Isabella Cameron, Alexander Gemmell, Janet Gem-
mell, Helen Buik, Helen Fletcher, Charles Fletcher, Clarissa
Ormiston, George P. Ure, Jane Ure and Margaret Pollock.
They have all now passed away except Mrs. Ormiston, Mrs,
Gemmell and Mrs. Pollock, who are still living, though

they have not for many years been connected with the
congregation.

It nowhere appears from the records of the congregation
on what day it first met for public worship: it may have
been on 3rd July, when the meeting on the following Wed-
nesday to receive certificates would be intimated, or it may
not have been until the 10th, the Sabbath following. The
first place of meeting for the Sabbath services, and the one
used until the first Sabbath of January, 1857, was the Hall
of the Mechanics’ Institute, Court Street, on the site of which
the present Police Court was built in 1874, The weekly
prayer-meeting was held in a small room in the basement of
the Temperance Hall, Temperance Street, where also meet-
ings for business purposes were generally held. On 15th




_

8

July the first managers were elected : Andrew Fleming, Sen.
(Chairman), John B. Smith (Treasurer), John Cameron (Secre-
tary), John Plenderleith and George P. Ure. The first men-
tion of a Sabbath-school seems to have been at a meeting on
the Tth of May, but probably no active steps were taken in
this connection pending the appeal which had been taken to
the Synod, and it does not seem to have been until Sabbath,
21st August, that those willing to act as teachers, or to be-
come scholars, were invited, by intimation from the pulpit,
to meet in the afternoon. There is no record of who the
first teachers were, or of the number of scholars, the sole
reference to the school during the first year and a half of its
existence, being in the financial statement presented by the
managers at the annual meeting in January, 1855, which
contains an item, “Books for Sabbath-school, $9.00”, Tt is
known, however, that Mr. Cameron acted as superintendent
until some time in 1855,

The ordinance of baptism was first administered 21st
August, 1853, when two infants, Amelia, daughter ot Alex-
ander and Janet Gemmell, and Margaret, daughter of John
B. and Janet Smith, were baptized.

The first election of elders took place in the month of
August, when Rev. William Ormiston, M.A., Rev. Charles
Fletcher, Alexander Gemmell and John Plenderleith were
chosen. The lastnamed declined to accept office; the
others, having all already been ordained, were inducted on
Sabbath, 6th November. The Rev. William Ormiston was
born in the parish of Symington, Lanarkshire, Scotland, in
1821 ; came to Canada with his parents when thirteen years
of age. and was educated at Victoria College, where he took
the degree of M.A. After completing his theological studies
he was, in 1848, ordained minister of Newton and Newcastle,
in the township of Clarke, and in May, 1853, resigned his
charge and removed to Toronto on becoming a Master in the
Normal School. His connection with the congregation con-
tinued about three years, and untii he became minister of
the congregation in Hamilton now known as Central church.

N
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During his ministry in Hamilton he received fifteen calls to
churches of large cities in the United States, all of which he
declined until, in 1870, he became one of the ministers of the
Dutch Reformed Collegiate church, New York, a charge
which, on account of ill-health, he resigned in 1888, remov-
ing to California, where he died 19th March, 1899. He was

Rev, Wittian OrMiston, MA,
Elder, 1853-1856

a distinguished preacher, a man of fervid imagination, full of

enthusiasm, had great command of language, and was a uni-
versal favourite. Rev. Charles Fletcher was a native of
Fifeshire, Scotland, and educated at the University of Saint
Andrews. Ordained in 1842, he soon after came to Canada,
and was minister, first at Chippewa, and then at Goderich,
but his health failing, in 1850 he came to Toronto, where he
for a time carried on business as a bookseller, removing in

May, 1858, to Goderich, where he lived many years, dying
9th March, 1885, Alexander Gemmell was born in Mayhole,
Ayrshire, in 1815, and, after serving as an elder in the
United Presbyterian congregation there, came to Toronto in
1852, where he carried on an extensive business as a boot

i




and shoe maker. He was exemplary in discharging the
duties of the eldership, a man of strong mind, and though he
had only sunch an education as is commmon to Scottish children
in the humbler rank of life, both spoke and wrote with accur-
acy and power. While in Scotland he wrote an essay on
the Sabbath, which gained a prize offered by the Scottish
Sabbath Alliance, and was published.  There were a large
number of competitors, and Mr. Gemmell gained the third
prize, the first and second being both taken by ordained
ministers.  In 1879, living at a distance from the church,
and prevented by the state of his health from giving regular
attendance, he resigned and connected himself with New
St. Andrew’s congregation, dying 3rd April, 1899,

On 19th October, 1853, the congregation met for the pur-
pose of calling a minister, the stipend proposed to be given
being $400. By appointment of Preshytery, Rev. Mr. Dick
presided, and a unanimous call was given to the Rev. John
Tayvlor, M.D.
ents, but when it came before the Presbytery, exception was

It was signed by 30 members and 46 adher-

taken to one name on the ground that the person was still a
member of Bay Street church: the name was accordingly
removed, leaving the call signed by 29 members. Among
those who signed as adherents merely were not a few who
were really members in full communion, but not having as
vet received certificates of disjunction from the other con

egation they could not sign as such. The call was
accepted by Dr. Taylor, and his induction took place on
Monday, 23rd November, when, according to the Presbytery
record, «The Rev. William Dickson preached an appropriate

sermon from 2 Co IR, last clause.  Rev. David Coutts,
Moderator, having narrated the steps taken by the congrega-
tion and Presbytery in the call to Rev. Dr. Taylor, put the
questions of the Formula to the minister and congregation,
and these being satisfactorily answered, he then by prayer,
in the name and by the authority of the Presbytery, inducted

* He had in the preceding June been called to Newton and Newcastle, in

Durham Presbytery
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the Rev. Dr. John Taylor to the pastoral charge of the
Second United Presbyterian congregation, Toronto: the
members of the Presbhytery then gave Dr. Taylor the right
hand of fellowship : he addressed Dr. Taylor on his duties to
the people, and Rev. Thomas Dickson addressed the people
on their duties to their pastor.”  After the induction services
the members of Presbytery and a number of friends were
entertained at supper in the North American Hotel, and after
supper there were short addresses from Rev. Thomas Christie,
Flamboro, Rev. Mr. Thornton, Whitby, Professor Lillie, Con-
gregational church, Rev. Dr. Burns, Knox church, Rev. Dr.
Pyper, Bond Street Baptist church, Rev. Mr. Goldsmith, New
Connexion” Methodist church, and Rev, Mr. Ormiston,*

Dr. Taylor, who then became the first minister of the
congregation, was born in the parish of Stow, Midlothian,

Scotland, in 1801 ; his father was an elder in the Secession
congregation of Stow, as his grandfather and great-grand-
father had been in the neighbouring congregation of Fala.
He was educated at Dalkeith Grammar School and the Uni-
versity of Edinburgh, and in 1819 entered the Divinity Hall
at Selkirk, then taught by Dr. Lawson,* completed his course
under Professor Dick, and was licensed by the Presbhytery of
Edinburgh in 18 While studying theology, us the Divin-
ity Hall met only in summer, he in winter studied medicine
at the University of Edinburgh, taking the degree of M.D. in

1824.F  In 1826 he received calls from two congregations,
Lockerbie, Dumfriesshire, and Auchtermuchty, Fifeshire
the Synod, in the excercise of the power it then had, appoint-
ing him to the latter place, where he was ordained 15th
August, 1827, The Synod of the Canadian Church having

Of those present only one now survives : the Hon. Sir Thomas Wardlaw
Favior, ex-Chief Justice of Manitoba,

His first session at the Divinity Hall was the last during which Dr, Law-
son taught, and his name the last that venerable man entered on his roll, He
survived all the ** Selkirk Students,” as they were called, except one, Rev.

Andrew Kennedy, who died at London, Ont., in 1882, d 3.

+ The degree of D.D. was conferred upon him by the University of Edin-

burgh in 1858,
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invited him to become Professor of Theology in succession to
Mr. Proudfoot, he resigned his charge in May, 1852, and
<came to Canada.

Rev, Joun Tavior, M.D., D.D.
Pastor, 1853-1861

Early in 1854 the question of building a church came
under consideration, and at a meeting held on 9th May the
managers were instructed to look out a suitable site for that
purpose. After consultation among themselves, and with
the more prominent members of the congregation, a plot of
ground, at the south-east corner of Gould and Victoria
Streets, was bought fiom Rev. Dr. Ryerson for $3,000, a
mortgage upon the property being given to secure payment
of the purchase money in four vears.

The first annual meeting was held 4th January, 1855,
and it was reported that to the 30 members on the roll at the
date of Dr. Taylor’s induction, 47 had been added, while one
had been removed by death, and four had left the city. In
the managers’ report the history of the congregation from its
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formation up to the end of 1854 was concisely narrated, and
in connection with the purchase of the church site it is said :
“The managers would here gratefully acknowledge the
valuable services of Oliver Mowat, Esq., in drawing up the
necessary conveyances and other papers for the transfer of
the property to the congregation, the more as these services

wus

2,70 ;

were given gratuitously.” The income for 18
reported to have been $260, and the expenditure $2:
and for 1854 the income was $715.65, with an expenditure
of $644.90. In addition to this, $56.50 was contributed for
missions and other extra-congregational purposes. The
managers were re-elected, with the addition of George Smith

and Robert Pollock, to bring the number up to seven, as
required by the constitution which had been adopted in
1853, At this meeting a committee was appointed to co-
operate with the managers in raising subscriptions for build-
ing a church, and a subscription-list being at once opened,
there was subscribed, before the close of the meeting, $400 by
the pastor, and a further sum of $2,050 by fourteen members
and adherents,

The managers and building committee at once went to
work, and on 17th January, 1855, it was resolved, ¢« That a
church costing not more than §11,200 be erected,” and plans
were ordered to be got. Soon after, plans were sent in by
two architects, Mr. Sheard and Mr. Thomas, but neither of
them was adopted, and in May it was decided to employ Mr.
Hay as architect, with instructions ¢ forthwith to prepare
plans of a gothic church with a spire—the church to seat
500 people.” In August, Mr. Hay's plans having been
approved of, tenders were called for, and from among those
sent in, tenders for stone and brick work, carpenter work,
plastering, painting and glazing, amounting in all to $12,-
572, were accepted, and the action of the committee was
approved of at a congregational meeting held on 31st August,
It was desired to have the building roofed in before winter,
but that was found to be impossible, and all through tke
progress of the work there was considerable delay.




Some time during the summer, but the exact date cannot
now be ascertained, Mr. William Kerr was appointed super-
intendent of the Sabbath School, the duties of which office he
discharged faithfully and efficiently for the long period of
thirty-nine years.

The managers’ report presented at the annual meeting on
28th January, 1856, states the number of members in full
communion to be then 110, with an average attendance of
200 on the Sabbath services, but gives no figures showing the
, either for ordinary

moneys raised or disbursed during 1
congregational or extra-congregational purposes, and the
Treasurer’s book for this early period cannot now be found.
The Minute Book contains the Treasurer’s statement for the
vear 1856 as prepared for presentation at the annual meet-
ing to be held in January, 1857, and, after eliminating from
both sides of the account all items connected with the church

building, the income seems to have been $810 and the
expenditure $664.60, In addition to which $92 was raised
for the Schemes of the Church. The Managers at that meet-
ing reported that for church building purposes $3,404 had
been subscribed by those connected with the congregation,
and $1,080 by friends in the city : also that a loan of $4,880,
for five years, at five per cent., had been obtained. Besides
a mortgage on the church property being given for this loan,
Messrs. John Cameron, John B. Smith, John Plenderleith,
Robert Pollock, George P. Ure and Robert Mills became
sureties for the repayment.

As Dr. Taylor intended to visit Scotland during the sum-
mer he was, according to an entry in the Managers’ Minute
Book, asked ¢ to solicit aid from friends there towards defray-
ing the expense of our church.” He went te Scotland*® in the
end of April, and returned early in October, having, while
there, raised for the congregation $2,446 from among friends,

The church was at length completed, and opened for
public worship on Sabbath, 11th January, 1857, when Dr.

* On leaving, the ladies of the congregation presented him with a purse

of $300.
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Taylor preached in the forenoon from the text, ¢ How ami-
able are thy tabernacles, O Lord of hosts;” Psalm 84: 1. At
a service in the afternoon, Rev. Mr. Ellerby, then pastor of
the First Congregational church, preached, and in the even-
ing, Rev. Dr. Burns, of Knox church. The attendance at all
the services was large, and the collections, $214.65, con-
sidered liberal for those days. The managers and congre-
gation felt greatly encouraged.

At the annual meeting held a few days afterwards the
membership was stated to be one hundred and twenty-five,
and the managers report mentioned ¢ the pleasing fact that
already two hundred and twenty sittings have been taken in
the new church.” The total cost of the church, exclusive of
the site, was reported as $14,900. In March of this year
there was an election of elders, when William Mathers,
George Smith, David Fotheringham,* and William Kerr
were elected ; Mr. Mathers declined, and the others were
ordained on 12th April.

From the formation of the congregation until May, 1854,
when on account of ill-health he had to retire, the service of
praise was led gratuitously by Mr. George P. Ure, an editor
of the North American, one of the city newspapers; then
Mr. John Ross, who had been precentor in Knox Church, led
the psalmody for three years, and until his removal from the
city. At a congregational meeting held on 19th June, 1857,
a musical committee, appointed at a previous meeting, re-
ported, recommending Mr. John Douglas “as a suitable per-
son for leading the psalmody of the congregation ; and that
he be authorized to take such steps as he may think neces-
sary for the immediate formation of a suitable choir.” The
report was adopted and the congregation never had occasion
to regret the action it then took. Mr. Douglas, during the
long period of thirty-two years, discharged his duties most
efficiently, and with fine, cultivated taste, perseveringly
laboured to make the psalmody, at once interesting, attrac-

*In December, 1858, he left the city temporarily, returning early in 1860 ;
then having again left, he resigned in April, 1872,
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tive and spiritually beneficial, and in this respect earned the
gratitude of every member of the congregation.

In July, 1858, a change in the time of meeting for pub-
lic worship was made, from 6 o'clock in the evening to
2,30 in the afternoon; this was to be from 1st September
to the 1st June following, a period of nine months., How
long this arrangement continued does not appear; but it can-
not have been long, for before the expiry of the time named,
and in May, 1859, the session had before it “a communication
from the managers regarding the small attendance at public
worship in the evenings, and suggesting that the session
should endeavor to remedy the evil.” The session agreed
that a short address on the subject be read from the pulpit
next Lord’s day, and that the elders endeavour to visit the
families connected with the congregation,

In the latter part of 1860, Dr. Taylor determined to re-
sign his professorship, and also the charge of the congrega-
tion, in the following spring, and return to Scotland. The
intended resignation becoming known to the congregation, a
meeting was held to consider the situation, when it was
determined to wait upon Rev. Dr. Burns, formerl; minister
of Knox church, and then professor of Church IHistory in
Knox College, lay before him a full statement of its affairs
and ask if he would be willing to take charge for a time in
the event of the expected vacancy ; to their request he gave
a favourable reply. When officially notified of the intended
resignation, the following resolutions were passed by the ses-
sion: ¢« First, having received notice from the Presbytery
that Dr. Taylor has given in his resignation of the pastoral
charge of this congregation, we, as members of session,
desire to record our high appreciation of his services as a
man, a gentleman, a Christian and a minister; our sincere
sorrow that he has seen it to be his duty to take that step,
and that we are thereby to be deprived of his agreeable
society and valuable instructions; at the same time, being
fully satisfied that he is acting from the consciousness of
duty, and high and honourable motives, we would judge it
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altogether out of place to offer any resistance. Second, we
deem the present a suitable occasion for expressing to him
our sense of the amiable temper he has at all times mani-
fested, the Christian love and friendship exercised by him as
moderator of session, and to its members individually, and
our warm desire and prayer that the God of Jacob may
bless him; that goodness and mercy may follow him all the
days of his life, and at last having enjoyed length of days,
an abundant entrance may be ministered unto him into the
heavenly kingdom of his Lord and Master.”

At a meeting of the congregation about the same time,
a resolution was passed : “That while we feel sincere sorrow
that our beloved pastor has scen it to be his duty to re-
sign his charge, and are fully sensible of the high privileges
we have enjoyed under his ministrations, and the great loss
we will sustain in being deprived of them, at the same time,
under existing circumstances, we do not deem it to be our
duty to offer any opposition to his resignation being accepted.
We desire to express our high appreciation of Dr. Taylor's
past character and conduct as our pastor, our sincere sorrow
at parting with him and our heartfelt desire and prayer for
his future welfare.” The resignation of Dr. Taylor was
carried out, and his connection with the congregation
ceased on 6th May, 1861, when he returned to Scotland.®* The
services he rendered the congregation during the years of
its feeble infancy cannot be dwelt upon at length, but it is
perhaps not too much to say, that the plain, earnest presenta-
tion of Christian truth so characteristic of his teaching, his
wise counsels, the fostering care he exercised over it through
those early and formative years, and the example of his life,
exerted an influence which proved lasting. Under his guid-
ing hand it took the impress of his character and individu-
ality, acquiring the elevated tone of feeling and sentiment,

* After his return to Scotland Dr, Taylor was minister of the U, P. con-
gregation of Busby, near Glasgow, a charge which he resigned in 1872,
removing soon after to Edinburgh, where he became an elder in Morningside
U. P, congregation. He died joth October, 1880, in the Soth year of his age.
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with the liberal attitude towards every Christian enterprise,
for which it has always been distinguished, and which have
given it a prominent and honoured place throughout the
Church with which it is connected. His departure was
regarded as a loss not only to the congregation, but to the
Presbyterian Church throughout Canada. 1In a sermon
preached after his death, his successor, Rev. Mr. King, said :
“Ie possessed a mind of great vigour, a wide range of
knowledge, an accurate scholarship, and a rare power of
clear, forceful, condensed expression. He was . . a
singularly clear, sound and instructive expositor of the \\ ord
of God. This was his most marked distinction. His preach-
ing was almost wholly expository. . . . He wasa man
of great modesty, having an estimate of his own ability and in-
fluence greatly below that which many who knew him had
formed. He was, under an occasionally cold exterior, a
warm, obliging and most courteous friend. And above all,
he was a devout, humble and consistent Christian, ‘an exam-
ple of the believers in word, in conversation, in charity, in
spirit, in faith and purity ’; in doctrine showing uncorrupt-
ness, gravity, sincerity, sound speech that could not be con-
demned.”

At this time the financial condition of the congregation
was a critical one indeed. Soon after the building of the
church, evil times fell on the Province, and they were
especially felt in the city of Toronto. During the time of the
Crimean War, and the building of the Grand Trunk Railway,
business was prosperous, and the hopes of the people rose
high. About 1856 there occurred in 'l‘oronto, what is in
Canada popularly spoken of as “a Boom'; property rose
rapidly in price ; extensive hluldlngs were erected; con-
siderable tracts of farming lands around the city were laid out
as lots for suburban villas; sold for extravagant sums, and
a large amount of money embarked in ventures of the most
hazardous description. The inevitable collapse came early
in 1857 ; the business failures were numerous; shops and
houses were without tenants; and the state of depression




21

continued for a number of years. The congregation did not,
and could not escape the evil effects of the hard times; its
numbers did not increase, but rather fell oft; and those who
remained found themselves burdened with a heavy debt
incurred in building the church, and with diminished
resources. For not a few years the outlook was a dark one,
and faith was sorely tried. According toacircular issued by
the managers in April, 1861, besides a small arrear due for
stipend, the liabilities were as follows ; Loans, principal
$7,880: overdue interest on these $911: Building Society
$900: sundry small debts $1,337, making in all an indebted-
ness of $11,028,  The circular went on to state,“This amount
would appear almost overwhelming for so small a number
as compose our congregation, were it not for the fact that
the trustees have for over $8000 of this amount—through
the liberality of our esteemed pastor and Miss Taylor—
succeeded in completing an arrangement by which this sum
an remain on mortgage at a moderate rate of interest, and
for a lengthened period ; * thus inspiring the managers with
the confident hope that, provided they are sustained liberally
by the united efforts of the members and adherents, they
will be enabled notonly to provide sufficient means for carry-
ing on the stated ordinances, but also to provide a fund for
gradually diminishing the debt.” The members and adher-
ents, few in number, none of them wealthy, nobly set them-
selves to face the situation ; toprevent the building in which
they worshipped, on which a considerable sum had already
been spent, from passing into the hands of another denomi-
nation, as for a time it seemed not unlikely it might do, and

* There were two mortages, the one for $3000, given in 1854, for the pur-
chase money of the church site, which, when it became due was paid by a
sister of Dr. Taylor, who took an assignment of it; the other was for $3880
advanced in 1856 by Dr. Taylor, and now increased by arrears of interest to
$5656. These were to remain for ten years, bearing interest for the
first two years at six per cent. and after that at seven per cent. ; but
although these rates of interest were stated in the agreement, the mortgagees
never intended to charge them, and in fact never would take more than
five per cent,
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to wipe off the debt, In their efforts they were materially
assisted by the disinterested conduct of Dr. Burns, who
undertook without remuneration the oversight of the con-
gregation and supply of the pulpit. He was then in his
seventy-third vear, had been ordained in 1811 minister of
St, George's (Established) church, Paisley, and continued in
that until the Disruption, when he cast in his lot with the
Free Church.  In 1844 he visited Canada with several others

Rev., ROBERT BUurss, DD,
Stated Supply, I861-1863

as a deputation from that Church, and was soon after called to
Knox church, Toronto, into which he was inducted in May,
1845, and he became in 1856 professor of Church History in
Knox College. Nominister in Canada was more widely known,
more truly revered, and his unwearied labours in preaching
the Gospel, in every part of the land, in mission stations
among scattered settlers, as well as in settled congregations,
contributed in a high degree to the prosperity of the Church.
In coming as he did to the aid of the congregation in a time
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of dire need, he proved himself to be an elder indeed, ¢ taking
the oversight of the flock, not by constraint, but willingly :
not for filthy lucre but of a ready mind.”

On 2nd June, 1861, the Toronto Presbytery, of the
newly formed Canada Presbyterian Church, agreed to
Dr. Burns supplying the pulpit for six months, and appointed
him moderator of the session. This arrangement continued
until the end of the year when the Presbytery was asked to
allow him to remain as Stated Supply and moderator of
session for twelve months longer, and the request was granted,
although some members of Presbytery strongly opposed it
being so: one of them indeed went the length of protesting
and giving notice of appeal to the Synod, which however,
he did not carry out.

In March, 1862, there was another election of elders at
which, Archibald Macdonald, John Young Reid, James Barrie
and David Morrice were the choice of the people. Mr.
Macdonald declined and Mr. Barrie had just then unexpec-
tedly to remove from the city, but on 25th April, Mr. Reid,
who had formerly been an elder in Hamilton, was inducted,
and Mr. Morrice ordained. *

During the year 1862, in consequence of the civil war in
the United States, a number of Southerners were temporarily
resident in Toronto, and among them several ministers hold-
ing proslavery opinions.  That one of them, Rev. Stuart
Robinson, D.D., Louisville, Kentucky, was allowed to occupy
the pulpit caused a little feeling on the part of some members
of the congregation, and of at least one member of the
session. An attempt was made, by the writer of a letter
which appeared in one of the city newspapers, to stir up strife,
but by prompt action on the part of the session all unpleas-
antness was removed, peace and harmony being fortunately

preserved.

* Mi. Morrice did not hold office long, as in a few months he removed to
Montreal.  He has long been, and is now, an elder in Crescent Street church,
and by his business ability and great liberality has done much to further the

interests of Montreal Presbyterian College.
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Early in 1863 Dr. Burns, finding that at his advanced
years, and with other duties, he could not give the congrega-
tion the care and attention needed, advised a call being given
to some young man to become settled pastor, This advice
was followed, with the result that a call was given the Rev.
John M. King, M.A., then minister of Columbus and Brook-
lin, in the Presbytery of Whitby, which he accepted. IHis
induction took place in the forenoon of Thursday, 28th May,
when Rev. Mr. Pringle (Brampton) presided, preaching a ser-
mon from 2 Cor. 8: 9, and inducted, the usual questions
having first been answered; after which Dr. Burns
addressed the newly-inducted pastor from 2 Tim.4:1, 2;
and Rev. Mr. Dick (Richmond Hill) addressed the people.
In the afternoon the Presbytery and a number of friends
were entertained at a dinner, provided by the congregation,
in Knox College; in the evening there was a public social
meeting, at which Mr. T. W, Taylor, in the unavoidable
absence from the city of the Hon. Oliver Mowat, occupied
the chair, and there were addresses from Dr. Durns, Rev.
Mr. Kennedy (Dunbarton), Rev. R. F. Burns (St. Catharines),
Rev. Mr. King, and a member of session, Mr. Alex. Gemmell.

The Rev. Mr. King was born at Yetholm, in Roxburgh-
shire, Scotland, 29th May, 1829, the child of pious parents,
descended from a long line of godly ancestors. He was edu.
cated at the University of Edinburgh, where he took the
degree of M.A., and, besides studying theology in the Divinity
Hall of the U. P. Church, spent some time in Germany, and
in the University of Halle enjoyed the teaching of such
erudite and distinguished professors as Muller, Tholuch, and
Neander. 1In 1856 he came to Canada, and, desirous of be-
coming thoroughly acquainted with the country and its
needs, imbued even then with that zeal for Church extension
and Home Missions which was a leading feature of his whole
life, for a time declined all overtures in the direction of a
permanent settlement, devoting himself to the work of
exploration, which resulted in the founding of not a few now
flourishing congregations. After more than a year spent in

p
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this important work, he accepted a call to Columbus and
Brooklin, where six years were spent in the active discharge
of pastoral duties, and in the more public work of the
Church. From the very commencement of his career in
Toronto, the congregation under his care r.ade steady
progress, Strenuous efforts were made, as indeed they had
been during the time of Dr. Burns, to reduce the burden of
debt, while liberality to the missionary and other schemes
of the Church abounded.

Rev. J. M. Kixg, M.A,, D.D,
Pastor, 1868-1883 ¢

In parting with Dr. Burns the session placed on its
minutes, and sent to him, the following resolution : |
« Dr. Burns, Professor of Church History in Knox College, i
having ceased to be moderator of session, it was agreed, at
this its first meeting after his resignation, to put on the
records of the session a statement of the deep and grateful
sense which its members, in common, it is believed, with the
entire congregation, entertain of the services rendered by
him, since the return to Scotland of the first esteemed pastor,
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in not only presiding over the meetings of Session, but in
ably conducting the public services of the Lord’s Day and
weekly prayer-meetings during the greater part of that
period without any other remuneration than the gratitude of
those to whose spiritual profit he ministered. The session
would also express the prayer and hope that he may be long
spared in the membership of the congregation to whose help
he came in the hour of its difficulty and trial.”  Although
unable during the time of Dr. Burns' services to recognize
their value in a practical manner, at a social meeting during
the winter of 1866, friends in the congregation presented
him with a purse of $500 ; this, with accustomed generosity,
he on the spot dedicated to the scholarship fund of Knox
College.

In the end of 1863 it was resolved that an annual mis-
sionary meeting should be held, and that has never since
been omitted. A Female Visiting Association was also pio-
jected and a constitution for it drawn up, but nothing prac-
tical seems to have resulted from this. The congregation
was also divided into districts, the oversight of one of these
being entrusted to each elder.

Soon after the dismissal of the congregation on the even-
ing of Sabbath, th March, 1865, a fire broke out over one
of the furnaces in the basement, and considerable damage
was done to the church. The trustees of Elm Street Meth-
odist church and of Bond Street Congregational church at
once oftered the use of accommodation in connection with
their places of worship while repairs were being made, but
the basement being, with slight repairs, found suitable for
temporary need, it was unnecessary to take advantage of the
offers so kindly made. The Mechanics’ Institute lent
benches, for which any remuneration was declined. Some
difficulty was caused by the insurance company raising a
question as to whether the policy covered certain items in
respect of which a claim was made, but finally the loss was
adjusted and $1,000 paid by the company. To meet the
rapidly increasing demand for sittings, it was determined
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that while the repairs rendered necessary by the fire were
being made, galleries should be put up ; this was accordingly
done, the four front pews facing the pulpit being set apart for
the choir.  During the summer a Sabbath school was begun
in the east end of the city, under the auspices of the Presby-
terian Sabbath School Union, in which several members of
the congregation became teachers, one of them, Mr. Thomas
Robin, being superintendent.

At the annual meeting in January, 1866, the minister’s
stipend was raised to $1,200 ; in January, 1869, it was made
81,600 ; raised in 1873 to $2,000, and in 1875 to §2,500, at
which it continued until January, 1883, when it was again
raised to $3,000. In the following February the session
resolved that an addition of five to their number should be
added, but the congregation seems to have been asked to
elect four only. The four chosen were Hon. Oliver Mowat,
James Campbell,* Thomas Fotheringham and Archibald
Macdonald,  Mr. Mowat declined on account of public
duties which would muke it impossible for him satisfactorily
to perform the duties of the eldership, and on 16th April the
others were ordained and inducted.

By the time of the annual meeting in 1867 the debt had
been reduced to $5,856, and an effort was then begun to
have it entirely removed by subscriptions payable over a
period of three years. The sureties for payment of the loan
had been released from all their liability as far back as
1863, and at the next annual meeting thereafter Mr. Pollock,
one of them, asked to have an entry made in the minutes,
which was agreed to: «On behalf of those whose property
was held as collateral security for the church loans I beg to
thank the congregation for their strenuous efforts to release
us, and to the Rev. Dr. Taylor and Mr. T. W. Taylor for
their generosity and magnanimity in releasing us even be-
fore the stipulation of the agreement was fulfilled.”

*In June, 1870, Mr. Campbell resigned for the purpose of connecting
himself with Charles Street church, of which his son was minister,
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A new communion service was presented to the con-
gregation by the managers holding office in 1867, the old
one being placed at Mr. King's disposal to be given to some
mission station.

The Rev. Dr. Burns, after spending a year in Scotland,
returned to Toronto in August, 1869, and on the evening of
Sabbath the 8th preached in Gould Street church, from
2 Cor. 2: 14-16, the last time he ever preached. A few days
after he was taken ill, and died on the 18th of the same
month, His interest in the congregation did not abate after
the settlement of Mr. King, but continued without diminution
to the end of his life, and gratification was felt that his last

public testimony for his Master was addressed to the con-
gregation of which he was an honoured member.

The year 1870 was a memorable one in the history of the
congregation as the year which witnessed the entire extinc-
tion of the original debt, and on the evening of 8th February
it met to celebrate this event. The meeting was of the most
pleasant character; besides the members of the congregation
there were a large number from other churches in the city
present to offer congratulations on the auspicious occasion.
The chair was occupied by Rev. Mr. King and speeches were
made by Rev. Dr. Ormiston, Rev. David Inglis (Hamilton),
Rev. Mr. Cochrane (Brantford), Rev. Mr. Marling (Bond Street
Congregational church), and Hon. John McMurrich. Some
interesting statistics may here be given. The total amount
expended on the church, including cost of site, extended
accommodation and repairs after the fire of 1865, had
been $20,519 ; and, in addition, no less a sum than $7,191
had been paid for interest on the debt.* The membership,
at the time of Mr. King's induction 105, had in the inter-
vening seven years increased to 370,

* From a Building society $2,000 was borrowed in 1857. In the Passbook,
after the entry of the final payment under date 24th June, 1862, there is a pencil
memo. in the handwriting of the church treasurer : * The borrowing this
$2,000 has cost the church $810.69 for interest fees and fines, which is pay-
ing for money with a vengeance.”

—
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Another event notable this year was the formation of a
missionary association. The congregation had always been
mindfnl of the missionary and other schemes of the Church,
but appointing missionary collectors, arranging their dis
tricts, and making an appropriation of the moneys contri-
buted for such purpose, among the various schemes had
hitherto always rested with the session. This year the
session recommended “ that for the future a limited number
of the members of the congregation be appointed in concert
with it, in regulating the collection and distribution of the
contributions of the congregation for evangelical purposes;
the whole to be called the missionary committee, and to con-
sist of the members of session, together with nine members
elected at the annual missionary meeting. The officers to
consist of a president (who shall be the pastor of the con-
gregation), a vice-president, a treasurer and secretary, and
an assistant to the same.” This recommendation was
accepted and approved by the congregation, and an associa-
tion so organized, but with the managers added er officio and
an increased number of the members of the congregation,
has been in existence ever since.

The year was further memorable as that in which it was
resolved to begin outside Sabbath school and evangelistic
work. A Sabbath school was begun in Seaton street in
rooms in the house of Mr. Panton, a student member of the
congregation, and Mr. David McGee was placed in charge of
it ; he was succeeded by Mr. Thomas Fotheringham ; and he
in turn by Mr. J. S. Russell.  As the work then begun was
carried on only for a few years its history may be shortly
stated. In the expectation that a congregation might soon
be formed in the neighbourhood, a lot was bought in 1871,
on the east side of Sherbourne street, a short distance south
of Gerrard street, and a building to be used as a Sabbath
school and lecture room erected on the rear of the lot, leav-
ing ample room in front for a church of moderate size. The
cost of the lot was $1,319, and of the building and furnish-
ings $3,845; towards which members of the congregation
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contributed $2,215, funds for the additional expenditure being
got by a mortgage on the property. This building was
opened on 3rd December, the services being, in the absence
of Mr. King from the city, conducted by Rev. William Inglis,
a member of the congregation, and, besides supplying accom-
modation for the school, Sabbath evening services were car-
ried on in it by Mr. Rennelson, then a student at Knox
College. OIld St, Andrews’ congregation, finding its position
at the corner of Church and Adelaide streets no longer a
suitable one, determined to move northward to the corner of
Jarvis and Carlton streets, and in 1876 began building ¢
church there, As this would evidently supply the neighbour-
hood, the decision was come to, to discontinue the school,

which was at once done. No purchaser was. however, found
for the property until 1879, when it was sold, the money
realized over the mortgage, $1,350, being applied towards the
building fund of St. James Square church. In the antumn,
an election of elders was held, when Rev. Dr. Caven, Rev,
Willinm Inglis, Hon. Oliver Mowat, Dr. W, B. Geikie,* and
Thomas W. Taylor, M.A. were elected ; three of them declined,
and on 4th December the two last named were ordained.

Early in 1871, a Young Men's Christian Association was
formed with 40 members: Patron, Rev. Mr, King ; President,
Thomas W. Taylor: Vice Presidents, Joseph Henderson,
Thomas F. Fotheringham, Robert Mills, Jr.; Secretary-Treas
urer, Alex. Smith; Directors, Thomas Kirkland, Josiah Bruce,
George Drammeond and John O. Anderson. Under its auspices
another Sabbath school was begun on Caer Howell street with
Mr. Joseph Henderson as superintendent and six members
of the congregation as teachers. Mr.J. O, Anderson, in 1874,
succeeded Mr. Henderson in charge of this school, and on his
removal to Brantford, the work was undertaken by Mr. Robert
Kilgour. As there seemed room for another congregation in
that part of the city also, Rev. Mr. King reported at the
annual meeting in January, 1872, in the name of a few

* He resigned in January, 1875,
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individuals connected with the congregation, who had in the
meantime incurred the responsibility of the enterprise, that
a lot had been secured on the corner of Beverley and Sullivan
streets, not far from the building in which the school was
$500 paid on account, the title secured,

being carried on
and that it was then held for Christian purposes in connection
with the Presbyterian Church. Buat in 1878, Bay street
skine church,”

congregation, having taken the name “E
erected a church on Caer Howell street to which it removed,
supplying all the church accommodation needed in the district:
so the school was closed, the lot sold, and the purchase money
used for church extension purposes in another quarter,

In September, 1871, the Rev. G, L. McKay, a member of
the congregation, having been designated as a missionary to
the island of Formosa, was ordained by the Presbytery of
Toronto, in Gould street church. Of the noble and successful
work he did in that island until his death in June, 1900, no
account is necessary here, it is so well known. He has
passed to his reward and his works do follow him. On the
same evening, the Rev. George Bryce, also a member of the
congregation, who was being sent to the North West to take
charge of the school then existing at Kildonan, and to lay the
foundations of Manitoba College, was ordained. Dr. Bryce,
at present moderator of the General Assembly, is still a
professor of Manitoba College, and, to all appearance, as
active and capable for work as he was, when in 1866, a
sergeant in the University company of the Queen’s Own
Rifles, he faced the Fenian horde at Ridgeway.

In spring of 1872, there was still another election of
elders, when Thomas Kirkland, M.A., James Maclennan, M.A.,
George P. Dickson and David Picken were elected, and in
due course ordained.*

A considerable population having for some time been
settling in the north-west part of the city, at points distant

* Mr. Maclennan (now one of the Justices of the Court of Appeal) resigned
in May, I876; Mr. Dickson resigned in September, 1877 ; and Mr. Picken
died in May, 1885,
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from any of the existing Presbyterian churches, it became
evident that steps should be taken toatonce establish religous
services in that locality. No other congregation having
moved in the matter, advantage was taken on the removal
into that district, in 1872, of one of the Sabbath school
teachers, Mr, Milune, to open a school in his house, willingly
offered for the purpose. The house was situated at the outside
of the large open common in a now closely built populous
part of the city, so the attendance was not at first very large,
being only a little over 20,  During the following winter,
students of Knox College, at the request of the session, con
ducted Sabbath evening services, primarily in the interest
of women who, with young families, were hindered from
regular attendance at the distant churches, and these were,
on the whole, well attended. Among those who promoted
the interests of this mission, mention should be made of Mr.
Alexander Grimason in whose house on Borden street the
little congregation gathered for worship for some time, and
Mr. George A, Young (now an elder in Knox church, Winnipeg
who was abundant in his labours. After a time, in order to
conduct the school and evening services more efficiently than
was possible in a private house, and give permanence to the
work, a site was secured on the corner of Bathurst and Buller ]
streets, a payment of $360 made, chiefly contributed by
members of the congregation, and it was determined to pro
ceed as early as possible to erect an inexpensive church, and
the doing so was entrusted to a building committee of the
residents with three members of the congregation. As the
people in the district, though willing, were not strong
financially, the members of the committee connected with
the congregation promised that $500 would be contributed
in addition to the amount already paid on the site. To carry
on the work, Mr. Scrimger,* who had just completed his
studies in Knox College, conducted services during the
summer of 1873 ; these were carried on in winter through

* Now professor in Montreal Presbyterian College,
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the kindness of the Students' Missionary Society, and next
summer they were conducted by Mr. S. W, Fisher. In
deference to the wishes of the people in the district, the lot
which had been bought was exchanged for another deemed
more suitable at the corner of College and Bathurst streets,
and on this a plain, substantial frame church to accom-
modate 300 people was built. The opening services on 21st
September, 1873, were conducted by Rev. Mr. King, Rev.

Professor Greg

and Rev. John Campbell.* In the autumn

of 1874 a congregation was organized with 50 members ;
on dHth January, 1875, Rev. Alexander Gilray was ordained
as the first minister. His labours for twenty-eight years
have been abundantly blessed, and there is now a congrega
tion of 900 members.t The original church, although
enlarged in 1875, having become utterly inadequate for the
needs of the congregation, the large, commodious one in
which it now worships was built on the same site in 1883,
and first occupied in the March following, extensive school
and lecture rooms being added a few years after.

On 4th December, 1873, Mr. King was married to Miss
Janet Macpherson Skinner, a member of the congregation
who had for some years, with her sister, carried on a large
school for young ladies. Mrs. King was a woman of
remarkably fine character, gifted by nature with great firm-
ness of purpose united with the keenest sensibility and
beauty of disposition, highly educated and refined. All her
graces and talents, natural and acquired, were sanctified hy
earnest, humble piety. She assisted her husband in carry-
ing on every enterprise connected with the best interests of

* Now a professor in Montreal Presbyterian College.

t As it sprang from the Sabbath school begun by Gould Street congrega-
tion, so in time it in 1887 began a Sabbath school in what was then known as
Seaton Village, now part of the city, and next spring secured the services of
the late Rev. Thomas Logie, M.A., as its first missionary. In 1888 a lot was
bought on which a small church was built, and in October, 1880, a congrega-
tion was organized with Rev. Mr, Martin, now of Zion church, Brantford, as
the first minister. This is now St. Paul's, a self-sustaining congregation with
250 members, under the care of Rev. G. R, Fasken, B.A.
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the congregation, especially in reference to its missionary
and young women'’s societies. Soon after her marriage she
held meetings, in her home, on Saturday afternoons, attended
by girls of the Sabbath school, who in November, 1876,
formed themselves into an association connected with the
Woman's Foreign Missionary Society, and took the name of
the «Hopeful Gleaners’ Mission Band.” This little band has
ever since carried on its appropriate work successfully ; it
has undoubtedly been a means of much good among the
young women and girls of the congregation, and has con
tributed to the cause of missions, as appears from the church
reports, $5,729.78. In a wider sphere, by earnest and
active labour, she did much to make the ¢ Woman’s Foreign
Missionary Society ” a success. Her memory will be long
cherished in the congregation, and her holy example should
prove an incentive to deeper consecration and more zealous,
self-denying devotion to the cause of Him whom she so faith
fully loved and served.*

On the day of Mr. King’s marriage a wind storm of
extraordinary violence passed over the city, injuring more o1
less seriously many buildings, and among them the spire of
the church. For a time grave apprehensions were enter-
tained in the neighbourhood as to its safety, but the man-
agers without delay caused it to be inspected by Mr. James
Smith and Mr. Henry Langley, architects, and Mr. John
McBean, an experienced builder, who after a thorough and
careful examination, certified that the tower and spire were
not in an unsafe condition. With the exception of a small
portion of the upper part of the east wall of the tower, from
which a few bric.'s were displaced, the body of the tower
was altogether unimpaired ; the spire had been moved bodily
on its base eastward to the extent of two and a half inches,
but remained as perpendicular as it was before the gale, and
no timber in it had been in any way strained or damaged by

* After several years suffering from a painful and incurable disease, borne

with Christian resignation and even cheerfulness, Mrs. King died in Winnipeg

in September, 1886,



the movement. The publication of the experts’ certificate
quieted the fears of alarmed residents in the adjoining
houses, and the slight damage to the brick work having
been repaired, and some cross bracing with timbers in the
spire supplied as recommended, the whol~ was reported to
be in a much safer condition than at a time since the
church was built.

Early in 1874 the Moderator brought under the notice of
the session the subject of posture during the service of praise
on the Sabbath, stating that the opinion seemed very gener-
ally held amongst members of the congregation that to stand
while singing would be an improvement. The members of
session having expressed their views, it was, on motion of
Dr. Geikie, seconded by Mr. Taylor, agreed by a majority of
votes to recommend “that at the diets for public worship,
and while engaged in the service of praise, the congregation
should stand.” This posture was accordingly adopted, and
has been continued ever since. During the summer of this
year Dr. Taylor, the first minister, visited the city for a few
weeks, and while here preached several times, and addressed
the Sabbath school At a social meeting held in July he was
presented with an address from the session.

The question of securing better accommodation for the
Sabbath school, which had all along met in the church base-
ment, having begun to be very generally discussed, a con-
gregational meeting was held bth April, 1876, when a resolu-
tion which had been adopted by the session and managers
jointly was presented, to the effect that it was highly desir-
able to take steps to provide accommodation behind the
church for Sabbath school and prayer-meeting purposes, and
that the managers should be empowered to dispose of the
Sherbourne street property when it could be done without
injury to the various interests affected. In this connection
it was explained that the session and managers had no desire
to abandon the work at Sherbourne street and dispose of the
property there, that the proceeds from a sale of that property
might be used to extend the accommodation at Gould street,



but solely because another congregation was about to build
in almost the same locality, thus rendering it unnecessary to
carry on the work at Sherbourne street. A question being
raised as to whether the notice given of the meeting was
such as to admit of a sale of congregational property being
considered and dealt with, it was agreed to adjourn and have
another meeting properly and more fully intimated. At the
adjourned meeting, the question having been discussed and
considered from all points of view, a sale of the Sherbourne
street property was authorized, after which it was moved
and carried, “That the accommodation afforded by the
present building for prayer meeting and Sabbath school pur-
poses is altogether inadequate and unsuitable for the ever-
increasing necessities of the congregation, and it is the
opinion of this meeting that steps should be taken to provide
increased and improved accommodation for these purposes.”
A committee to consider and report was then appointed.
Although there seemed to be no difference of opinion as to
the necessity for enlarged and improved accommodation,
there was great diversity among the members as to the
proper means of attaining the desired end. Some considered
alteration and enlargement of the existing building the more
suitable ; others favoured an entirely new one. Then among
those who took the latter view, there was a difference of
opinion as to whether the old building should be taken down
and a new one erected on the same site, or whether there
should be removal to a new site as well as a new building.
Each of these proposals had supporters who argued in favour
of their own opinion, and criticized that of others freely, and
it is to be feared sometimes with considerable warmth,
After several meetings had been held, at which reports
from the committee were presented and the whole subject
discussed, on 21st March, 1877, another committee was
appointed ¢ to consider and report as to the desirability and

possibility of disposing of the present edifice and the prob-
able cost of erecting another edifice with suitable school
and lecture room on another site—also the probable cost of
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remodelling and erecting a new edifice upon the present
site, with school and lecture room.”

The committee, after full and careful consideration, and
as extended a canvass of the members generally as time
would permit, reported to a meeting held on 23rd May, that
a majority seemed to favour the erection of a new church
with at most 1,000 sittings: that it would be difficult, if not
impossible, to secure such a building on the then site ; that
there was good prospect of disposing of it, and that a suitable
site could be got in Gerrard street, on the north side of
St. James Square, and recommended that a new church, with
sufficient lecture room and Sabbath school accommodation,
be built on the Gerrard street site, if the then property could
be disposed of at an approved price. A lengtliened discussion
followed the presentation of this report, a number of those
present arguing against removal to a new site, but finally
the report with its recommendation was adopted. The leave
of the Presbytery having been obtained, the church and
lot were offered for sale by public auction, when, as was
expected, no bid was made for it. But the provisions of the
Religious Institutions Act, requiring church property to be
advertised and first offered for sale by public auction, having
been complied with, the way was then open to dispose of it
by private contract. An offer of $10,000 having been
received, this was laid before a congregational meeting,
when, although not without considerable opposition, it was
accepted, and a sale to the Catholic Apostolic church sanc-
tioned ; one condition of the sale being that the congregation
should continue in possession until the lecture and school
room in the new building should be ready for occupation.
Approval was also given of the proposal to purchase the lot
in Gerrard street. The powers given to the committee
appointed to superintend the building of a church on the new
site were “to adopt plans and enter into contracts for the
erection of a new church with accommodation for prayer
meeting and Sabbath school purposes, the cost of the building
to be limited to such a sum that, after all the subscriptions
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are paid, the total debt shall not exceed $10,000, or in the
event of money being borrowed at a rate of interest not
more than six per cent., $12,000.”

The leave of the Preshytery having been obtained, the lot
in Gerrard street was bought for $10,000, the exact sum for
which the Gould street property had been sold, but the lessee
of the lot demanding $1,500 as compensation for giving
immediate possession, an arrangement was come to for shar-
ing this additional expense, Mr. Hughes, the vendor, paying
$600, the congregation $600, and the other $300 being given
by the Catholic Apostolic church. These preliminaries
having all been satisfactorily arranged, plans for the new
building were procured from Messrs, Smith & Gemmell,
architects, contracts let, and the work under them begun.

In the opening of this year Robert Kilgour, William
Gordon, Robert Lee, Thomas Saunders, Alexander Nairn
and Robert Carrie were elected to the eldership, and the
three first named having accepted, they were, on 156th April,
duly ordained.*

The winter of 1877-8 proved an exceptionally mild one,
and work on the rear part of the building was carried on
without interruption, so that the large room intended for a
lecture room and Sabbath school purposes was ready for
occupation by the middle of March.

A farewell meeting was held in Gould street church on
the evening of 10th March, 1878, the minister and several of
the elders taking part in the service. While looking forward
hopefully to the time when the building then in process of
erection should be entirely completed, and the congregation
should find itself in occupation of large and commodious
rooms for the purposes of public worship and Sabbath school
instruction, many present felt deep and sad regret on leaving
a building they had in earlier days struggled so hard and
endured so much to preserve, and in which they had so

* Mr. Kilgour resigned 81st March, 1894, and Mr. Gordon, 27th June,
1899 ; Mr. Lee died 10th December, 1901,
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often found the promise fulfilled : <« Where two or three are
gathered together in my name, there am I in the midst of
them.” The service was indeed a solemn one, and the
attachment of the congregation to the building in which it
had for twenty-one years observed the worship of God found
sincere and affecting expression in the exercises of that
closing meeting. The following Sabbath, 17th March, service
was for the first time held in the new school house, when
Rev. Wm. Donald (Port Hope) preached in the forenoon, and
in the evening Rev. R. F. Burns, D.D. (Halifax): with, in
the afternoon, a special service for the children. The col-
lections at the services that day amounted to $568.23.

On the afternoon of Tuesday, April 2nd, a beautiful April
afternoon, a large representation of the congregation and a
number of persons from other congregations in the city,
gathered to witness the laying of the foundation, or more
properly, the corner stone of the new church, by the Rev. Mr.
King. In it,along with a copy of the Acts of the last preced-
ing General Assembly and several other documents, including
copies of the last issues of the Presbyterian Record, the Can-
ada Presbyterian, and of the Toronto daily newspapers, Globe,
Mail, Leader, and Telegram, there was placed a scroll, nar-
rating shortly the leading facts connected with the founding
of the congregation, and some prominent events in its history,
prepared by Mr. T. W. Taylor, and signed by Mr. William
Kerr, chairman, and Mr. Henry W. Darling, secretary of the
Building Committee. The proceedings were begun by Rev.
J. M. Cameron giving out Psalm 100, which was sung, the
reading of Scripture by Rev. Professor MacLaren, and prayer
led by Rev. Principal Caven. The chairman, Mr. Kerr, next
presented Rev. Mr. King with a silver trowel, bearing an
inscription, “Presented to Rev. John M. King, M.A , on laying
the foundation stone of the Presbyterian church, Gerrard
street, in process of erection for the Gould street congrega-
tion. Toronto, April 2, 1878, The stone was then laid, and
that ceremony being completed, a short address was given by
Rev. Alexander Topp, D.D. (Knox church), after which there
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was an adjournment to the school room, where an informal
meeting was held, presided over by Mr. Kerr, with speeches
from Rev. Thomas Wardrope, D.D., Guelph, Rev. John Potts,
D.D., Rev. Anson Green, D.D., Rev, J. A. R. Dickson, and
William . Howland, Esq.

The building of the church was proceeded with satisfuc-
torily during the summer and autumn, and it was opened for
public worship on Sabbath, 17th November. In the forenoon
the Rev. William M. Taylor, D.D., of Broadway Tabernacle,
New York, preached from John 1: 14—« And the Word was
made flesh and dwelt among us (and we beheld His glory, the
glory of the only begotten of the Father) full of grace and
truth.” The service in the afternoon was conducted by Rev.
John Jenkins, D.D., of St. Paul's church, Montreal, the Mod-
erator of the General Assembly, who took as his text Ex. 33 :
18—«1T beseech Thee shew me Thy glory.” The Rev. Dr.
Taylor preached again in the evening, the text being Ex. 24:
11—“They saw God and did eat and drink,” Although un-
fortunately the day was wet and stormy, the attendance at
each service was large, and the collections amounted to
$803.39. There was a most successful social meeting on the
following Monday evening, in which the Rev. Dr. Taylor,
Rev. Dr. Jenkins, Rev. Dr. James (Hamilton), Rev. Dr, Castle
(Jarvis Street Baptist church), Rev. Dr. Robb (Cooke’s church),
Rev. Dr. Potts, Rev. W. 8. Rainsford (then curate of St. James
Episcopal church, now Rector of St. George's church, New
York), and Hon. Oliver Mowat, took part as speakers. There
was also fine music furnished by the choir, under the able
leadership of Mr. Douglas.

The material of which the church is built is Georgetown
stone, with Ohio stone dressing; the front, with its lofty cen-
tre gable rising to a height of 70 feet, with buttresses and
pinnacles on either side, is imposing, and its massive charac-
ter is enhanced by a heavy tower at the south-west corner,
rising to a height of 100 feet. The dimensions of the audit-
orium are 75 feet square, with sittings for 1000 people. Eight
iron pillars support gothic arches which spring from the cap-
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itals 25 feet above the floor. The floor is so constructed that
an evenly inclined plane affords an unobstructed view of the
pulpit from every sitting. The woodwork of the pulpit and
of the choir balcony and organ case behind it is ash, that of
the pews chestnut, with walnut rail. Three large stained
glass windows and a number of smaller ones supply light
during the day ; a large central chundelier and a number of
smaller drop lights provide the means of lighting at the even-
ing services.

In the rear part of the building there are on the ground
floor, rooms for Bible class, Sabbath school library, business
and other purposes. The main Sabbath school and lecture
room above these measures 60 x 42 feet, and can seat 700
people; there are two class rooms at each side, and over
these two galleries; the ceiling of open timber work is 24
feet high.

The financial interests of the congregation connected with
the erection of the church, raising money by subscriptions,
effecting a loan, and controlling the expenditure, were under
the care of an efficient building committee, of which Mr.Wm.
Kerr was chairman, Mr. Alexander Nairn, treasurer, and Mr.
Henry W. Darling, secretary, all of whom were unremitting
in the attention they gave to the important and onerous duties
entrusted to them. Mr. Nairn especially deserved the grat-
itude of the congregation, as he gave not only time and
thought to the work, but frequently advanced large sums of
money to meet pressing claims of contractors. As appears
by the annual report for 1880, the total cost of the site and
building was $564,665.90.* The debt remaining on the build-
ing when completed was $28,000, payment, with interest at
seven per cent., being secured by two mortgages. In addition
to the amount first mentioned as the cost of the site and
building, there was the cost of furnishing, including carpets,
matting, cushions, blinds, chairs, etc., not only for the church

*Mr. D. S. Keith, a member of the congregation from its early days,
handed the building committee a receipted account for the cost, $1,379, of the

handsome gas fittings supplied by the firm of which he was a partner.
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proper, but for the school room, parlors, vestry, and other
rooms. The responsibility for all this was assumed by the
ladies, and under the active management of a committee of
their number, Mrs. Ewart, Mrs. King, Mrs. Darling, Mrs.
Ewing, Mrs.Woodbridge, and Mrs. Taylor, they nobly fulfilled
the task they had set themselves. The amount raised and
expended by them as a furnishing fund, including interest
which had to be paid while subscriptions were maturing, was
$3,368.83.

Mgr. WiLLiam KERg,
Elder, 1857-1894 Session Clerk, 1858-1878

On Sabbath, 24th November, John Ralph King, the only
son of Rev. Mr. King and Mrs, King, was baptised by Rev.
Principal Caven, the first baptism in the new church.

In January, 1879, Mr, Kerr resigned the clerkship of the
session, an office he had held for twenty years,* and was suc-
ceeded by Mr. Thomas W, Taylor.

* Mr. Kerr became a member of the congregation 26th March, 1856 ; was

soon after appointed superintendent of the Sabbath school, a position he held |
for thirty-nine years; and elected an elder 12th April, 1857, an office the duties

of which he discharged for thirty-seven years.
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At a congregational meeting, held on 1st May, 1878, the
question of the name by which the new church should be
called was brought up, and after a number of names had been
proposed and considered, the name adopted was “ Augustine
Church,” though by only a small majority. Some, however,
being dissatisfied with this, a requisition was laid before the
managers to call another meeting to re-consider the resolution
which had been come to, and with this they complied. An-
other largely attended meeting was accordingly held on 22nd
May, but after a long and somewhat heated discussion it broke
up without coming to any conclusion on the matter in hand.
After that nothing was done on the subject until the next an-
nual meeting on 16th January, 1879, when, to remove any
hard feeling and preserve harmony in the congregation, Mr.
T. W. Taylor moved, seconded by Mr. H. W. Darling, that the
name of the church be ¢ The Saint James Square Presbyterian
church,” and this was unanimously agreed to.*

On 8th May, 1879, Rev. Joseph McCoy, M.A., of Egmond-
ville, was married to Mary Helena, only daughter of Mr.
Joseph C. Huckins, the steward of Knox College. The Rev.
Mr. King officiated, and it being the first marriage in the
church, the Board of Management, following the usual
custom, presented the young couple with a handsome Family
Bible.

In the January of 1880, there was another election of
elders when Messrs. William Carlyle, John Gowans and
George Laidlaw were elected, ordained and inducted into
office.* About this time, the constitution of the Young Men's
Christian Association, founded in 1871 and carrying on work
through the intervening years, was changed, and a Young

* The site of the church has been heretofore described as in Gerrard Streets
and so it is, but the large open square and grounds, surrounded by portions of
the four streets, Gerrard, Church, Gould, and Victoria, and on which stand
the buildings occupied by the Education Department of the Government, the
N¢

finally agreed on,

nal and Model Schools, is called ** St. James Square ;" hence the name

t Mr. Carlyle resigned to connect himself with Southside congregation 6th
January, 1897, and Mr. Gowans died, 6th August, 1902,
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People’s Association formed, in the membership of which
young ladies had a place. The officers were: President,
R. C. Steele ; Vice Presidents, William Johnston, M.A., Joseph
Monteath ; Secretary, A. R. Wightman ; Treasurer, Miss M.
McIntosh ; Directors, Miss Marion Smith, Miss Eva Monteath,
Miss M. Douglas, and John Paton. Mr. Johnston was a
barrister, a man of singularly fine character, and active in
Christian work. In 1884, he was chosen a manager, and died
after a very short illness, a few days before the annual meet-
ing of next year. The report then presented by the managers
spoke of him in terms well deserved. It is but a few days
since the remains of our beloved brother, Mr, Wm. Johnston,
were carried to the grave, followed by the heart-felt grief of
every one who knew him. Although he had only been upon
the Board of Management for about a year, he had in
other capacities taken a large and most important share
in the work of the congregation, to the members of
which he had endeared himself by his unassuming and
gentle bearing, and who deeply mourn his loss. All his
work bore testimony to his sound judgment and liberal
culture, the latter having been obtained under circum-
stances alike creditable to his strong will and indomit-
able industry ; and to the most casual observer of his career,
it was apparent, the very highest positions in almost any
sphere of labour to which he might choose to de rote himself
would have been speedily within his reach had it pleased
God to spare him. He leaves behind a record of unswerving
i faith in the love and merits of the Master he delighted to
"\ serve, and of steady, earnest, and efficient work in His couse.”
‘ The address of the session also, when referring to members
f removed by death during the year, contained this sentenc»:
“Tt is impossible to speak of these departed friends indi
vidually, but one of them filled so large a place in the work
and counsels of the congregation, and devoted his exceptional
attainments so successfully to the teaching of the Young
Men’s Bible Class, that the name of William Johnston must
be here recorded.”
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The use of instrumental music in the church services
came before the session in 1881, as it had done on several
previous occasions. The first time seems to have been in
1868, when the Synod sent down to sessions, through Pres-
byteries, for consideration the question of permitting con-
gregations desiring to use an organ in public worship to do
80. On that occasion, the subject having been discussed at
two meetings, it was agreed to record : “That inasmuch as
there is a want of unanimity of opinion on this matter, the
session decline presenting any formal report to the Presby-
tery.” Again in 1872, the question was remitted to sessions
by the General Assembly, and on that reference the con-
clusion come to was: ‘“The session believe that liberty
should be accorded to congregations to use an instrument of
music as an aid in the service of praise in all cases in which
they are desirous of doing so, and on their satisfying the
Presbytery of the bounds that the peace of the congregation
would not be endangered by the adoption of it.” It was next
brought up by a letter, read at a meeting of session on 30th
December, 1874, suggesting that the melodeon used in the
Sabbath school should be used at the weekly prayer meeting.
At a meeting on 26th January following ¢the matter of
using the melodeon at the congregational prayer meeting
was further considered; on deliberation it was agreed to
defer a final decision until the next meeting of session " ; the
records, however, contain no entry of any further action
being taken. When it came up in March, 1881, it did so by
a resolution, passed at the annual meeting in January,
requesting ¢ consideration of the advisability of using a
melodeon at the weekly prayer meetings,” but the session
resolved that it was “not expedient then to make any change
in the mode of conducting the service of praise.” But this
does not seem to have been communicated to the leader of
the choir, as at a meeting of session in April, 1882, the
moderator stated that he had received a letter from Mr.
Douglas asking attention to the resolntion passed at the
congregational meeting of the previous year, stating that
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permission to use the melodeon at the prayer meetings was
still desired. Thereupon it was agreed that intimation of
this be made to the congregation, and an invitation given to
any members having objections to the use of the melodeon to
make them known to the moderator. At a subsequent meet-
ing he announced that only three members had expressed
themselves as unfavourable to it, but the meeting being a
small one, further consideration of the subject was postponed.
At a meeting in the following October it was determined to
take a vote by printed slips. The result of this was that
only 173 members voted—142 in favour of granting the
request, and 31 against it, and the moderator and Mr. Kerr
were appointed to confer with the leader of the choir, inform
him of the vote, and consult with him as to the withdrawal
in the meantime of the request. On the 23rd January, 1883,
the session was informed that the choir had withdrawn their
request, but the state of things had, in the meantime,
changed, as will be seen later.

In November, 1881, the mortgages for $28,000 were
replaced by one of $20,000 at a lower rate cf interest, and
$8,000 assumed as a floating debt to be paid off as speedily as
possible.  This seems to have been attended to, as in the
report for 1884, presented in January, 1885, the entire debt
was stated to be $17,000, which was further, before the
close of 1886, reduced to $15,000,

An auxiliary in connection with the Woman’s Foreign
Missionary Society of the Presbyterian Church in Canada was
formed in Toronto during this year. This was a union society,
embracing the women in seven of the city congregations—
Knox, St. James Square, Old St. Andrew’s, New St. Andrew’s,
Erskine, Charies street, and Bast church; the name under
which it was organized was the Murray Mitchell Auxiliary.
It had at first 124 members, and of these 64 were connected
with this congregation. It continued in operation thus for
several years, and then separate societies being begun in some
of the congregations forming the original federation, they
withdrew, leaving in the union only St. James Square and
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Old St. Andrew’s. They continued together until February,
1887, when a separate auxiliary was formed in each; that in
St. James Square retaining the name of the Murray Mitchell.
During the subsequent sixteen years and down to the present
time it has gone steadily forward, many of the women of the
congregation being enrolled in its membership, and taking
part in the exercises of praise, reading the Scriptures, prayer,
reading papers on the lives of devoted missionaries, and on
the different mission fields as they have been brought before
the society for special prayer. The interest in mission work
has further been kept up by circulation of the Letter Leaflet,
issued by the central society, and increased by addresses from
missionaries on furlough and their wives. Considerable sums
have year by year been contributed to the funds of the cen-
tral society, the amount for the year 1883, the first time it is
mentioned in the congregational annual report, contributed
by members of this congregation, was $127; the amount given
last year (1902) was $434.64. The total amount contributed
by this auxiliary since its formation, that is, by members of
it connected with the congregation, appears to have been
$7,768, and besides the gift of money, contributions of blank-
ets, clothing, and other necessaries have frequently been sent
to missionaries in the North-West, for distribution among the
necessitous heathen Indians on the reserves where they are
labouring.

In the spring of 1882 an event occurred which gave the
congregation great pleasure. Knox College having received,
under an Act of the Legislature, power to confer degrees in
Divinity, made the first use of that power by conferring the
degree of D.D. on Rev. Mr. King, who, in addition to his great
merit as a scholar and a minister, had long been an active
member of the College Senate and Board of Management, fill-
ing also for a number of years the important and exceedingly
onerous position of Chairman of the Board of Examiners. An-
other event, later in the year, was the death of Mrs. Burns,
widow of Rev. Dr. Burns, who in 1861 so disinterestedly
came to the help of the congregation. She filled so large a
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place, and so important a place in the religious life of the
city, and had taken for nearly forty years so prominent and
useful a part in sustaining many of its charitable institutions,
that special attention may properly be called to the loss sus-
tained by her death. Her connection with the congregation
was of incalculable benefit to it at a period when weak and
struggling, and to the last its interests were very dear to
her.

In 1883, Mr. Thomas W. Taylor (first elected a manager
in January, 1858, an office which he held for many years,
acting as secretary of the Board : ordained an elder in Dec-
ember, 1870, and for several years session clerk) removed to

SIR Tnomas W. Tavior
Elder, 1870-1883 Session Clerk, 1878-1883

Winnipeg on his appointment as one of the Justices of the
Court of Queen’s Bench for the Province of Manitoba, becom-
ing four years later Chief Justice of Manitoba. At the annual
meeting on 17th January, he was presented with an address
by the session and managers, in which, after offering congrat-
ulations on his elevation to the Bench, they went on to say:—
«We desire to express the deep sense which we, in common
with the entire membership, have of the loss sustained by the
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congregation in your removal : the son of its first venerated
pastor it was perhaps to be expected that you would interest
yourself in its prosperity, but any expectation of this kind
would have been fully met by a much smaller degree of in-
terest than you have always shown. You acted for many
years as a member of the Board of Management. You have
been for thirteen years a member of session, and for a con-
siderable part of the time its clerk. You have represented
the congregation more frequently than any other person in the
higher courts of the church. We have been witnesses of the
prudence, fidelity and zeal with which you have discharged
the duties connected with these offices of honour and trust.
The congregation owes not a little of its present prosperity to
vour active and continuous interest in its welfare; to your
uniformly kind bearing towards all its members and to your
legal knowledge and wise counsel always at its command.”
At the same time the members of the congregation presented
him with a valuable gold watch, and Mrs. Taylor with a hand-
some parlour clock and other gifts.

At the meeting of the General Assembly in June, Dr. King
was chosen moderator. But the congregation was, ere the
close of the year, to sustain a severe and serious loss by his
removal from it. In 1871 the College of Manitoba was
founded in connection with and under the care of the General
Assembly, and in it Rev. Dr. Bryce, whose ordination has
been already mentioned, and Rev. Thomas Hart, M.A., B.D.,
were up to this time, the only professors. As expressed in
the Act of incorporation, the college was founded “for the
education of youth, and promotion of classical and scientific
knowledge,” but the church was given power at any future
time to “make provision in connection with the said college,
and as part of the proper work thereof for the education of
students in theology.” No action had ever been taken to this
end, but this year the Assembly resolved that there should
be a principal and professor of theology in the college, and
appointed Rev. Dr. King to this position. Having asked time
for consideration, he called the session together to take coun-
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sel with its members, and after long and serious deliberation
they unanimously came to the following finding : «That the
session, after full and earnest consideration of the appoint-
ment of its moderator as principal and professor of theology
in Manitoba College, and having carefully and prayerfully
weighed the various reasons adduced for and against his ac-
ceptance of this appointment, and endeavouring to lay aside
the deep attachment of the whole congregation to him, an
attachment endeared and deepened by the faithful, devoted,
and self-sacrificing labours of more than twenty years, en-
deavouring to lay aside our personal loss as well as the loss
to the congregation and